

### **Checking Properties of Interval Matrices**

Rohn, Jiří 1996

Dostupný z http://www.nusl.cz/ntk/nusl-33668

Dílo je chráněno podle autorského zákona č. 121/2000 Sb.

Tento dokument byl stažen z Národního úložiště šedé literatury (NUŠL).

Datum stažení: 31.07.2024

Další dokumenty můžete najít prostřednictvím vyhledávacího rozhraní nusl.cz .

## INSTITUTE OF COMPUTER SCIENCE

### ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE CZECH REPUBLIC

# Checking Properties of Interval Matrices

Jiří Rohn

Technical report No. 686

September 1996

Institute of Computer Science, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic Pod vodárenskou věží 2, 182 07 Prague 8, Czech Republic phone: (+422) 66414244 fax: (+422) 8585789 e-mail: uivt@uivt.cas.cz

## INSTITUTE OF COMPUTER SCIENCE

#### ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE CZECH REPUBLIC

# Checking Properties of Interval Matrices<sup>1</sup>

Jiří Rohn<sup>2</sup>

Technical report No. 686 September 1996

#### Abstract

We investigate complexity of checking various properties of interval matrices. The properties in question are regularity, positive definiteness, P-property, stability and Schur stability, all of which are shown to be NP-hard to check even in the class of interval matrices with uniform coefficient tolerances. Two additional sections handle complexity of computing eigenvalues and determinants. The common basis for all these results is the NP-hardness of computing the norm  $||A||_{\infty,1}$ . In most cases we also present finitely verifiable necessary and sufficient conditions to demonstrate the exponentiality inherent in all these problems. Several verifiable sufficient conditions are added to give some hints on how to proceed in solving practical examples.

#### Keywords

interval matrix, regularity, positive definiteness, P-matrix, stability, Schur stability, eigenvalue, determinant, necessary and sufficient condition, complexity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The text, or a part of it, will appear in the book by Kreinovich, Lakeyev, Rohn and Kahl [24]. This work was supported by the Charles University Grant Agency under grant GAUK 195/96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Faculty of Mathematics and Physics, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic (rohn@msdec.ms.mff.cuni.cz), and Institute of Computer Science, Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic (rohn@uivt.cas.cz).

# Contents

1	The norm $  A  _{\infty,1}$	
	1.1	Subordinate norms
	1.2	Computing $  A  _{\infty,1}$ is NP-hard
2	Regularity	
	2.1	Checking regularity is NP-hard
	2.2	Necessary and/or sufficient conditions
	2.3	Radius of nonsingularity
3	Positive definiteness	
	3.1	Positive definiteness and regularity
	3.2	Checking positive definiteness is NP-hard
	3.3	Necessary and/or sufficient conditions
4	P-property	
	4.1	Necessary and sufficient condition
	4.2	P-property and positive definiteness
	4.3	Checking P-property is NP-hard
5	Stability	
	5.1	Necessary and/or sufficient conditions
	5.2	Checking stability is NP-hard
	5.3	Schur stability
	5.4	Checking Schur stability is NP-hard
	5.5	Radius of stability
6	Eigenvalues	
	6.1	Checking eigenvalues is NP-hard
	6.2	Computing the maximal eigenvalue is NP-hard
	6.3	Checking enclosures is NP-hard
7	Determinants	
	7.1	Edge theorem
	7.2	Computing extremal values of determinants is NP-hard 27
8	Nonr	negative invertibility and $M$ -matrices
	8.1	Nonnegative invertibility
	8.2	M-matrices
9	Appendix: Regularity and $P$ -property	
	9.1	Regularity and $P$ -property I
	9.2	Checking P-property is NP-hard for real matrices
	9.3	Regularity and P-property II

In this chapter we investigate complexity of checking various properties of interval matrices; an interval matrix is a set of matrices whose coefficients range independently of each other within prescribed bounds. The properties in question are regularity, positive definiteness, P-property, stability and Schur stability, all of which are shown to be NP-hard to check even in the class of interval matrices with uniform coefficient tolerances. Two additional sections handle complexity of computing eigenvalues and determinants. The common basis for all these results is the NP-hardness of computing the norm  $||A||_{\infty,1}$ , established in the first section. We have not restricted ourselves to proving the complexity results only, but in most cases we also present finitely verifiable necessary and sufficient conditions to demonstrate the exponentiality inherent in all these problems. In several cases we also add verifiable sufficient conditions to give some hints on how to proceed in solving practical examples.

We shall use the following notations. For two matrices A, B of the same size, inequalities like  $A \leq B$  or A < B are understood componentwise. A is called nonnegative if  $A \geq 0$  and symmetric if  $A^T = A$  ( $A^T$  is the transpose of A). The absolute value of a matrix  $A = (a_{ij})$  is defined by  $|A| = (|a_{ij}|)$ ; properties like  $|A + B| \leq |A| + |B|$  or  $|AB| \leq |A||B|$  are easy to prove. The same notations also apply to vectors that are always considered one-column matrices. In particular, for  $a = (a_i)$  and  $b = (b_i)$ ,  $a^Tb = \sum_i a_i b_i$  is the scalar product whereas  $ab^T$  is the matrix  $(a_i b_j)$ .  $\lambda_{\min}(A)$ ,  $\lambda_{\max}(A)$  denote the minimal and maximal eigenvalue of a symmetric matrix A, respectively. As is well known,  $\lambda_{\min}(A) = \min_{\|x\|_2=1} x^T A x$  and  $\lambda_{\max}(A) = \max_{\|x\|_2=1} x^T A x$  hold.  $\sigma_{\min}(A)$ ,  $\sigma_{\max}(A)$  denote the minimal and maximal singular value of A, and  $\varrho(A)$  is the spectral radius of A. A denotes the unit matrix,  $e_j$  is the jth column of A and A an

## 1 The norm $||A||_{\infty,1}$

In this section we introduce the subordinate matrix norm  $||A||_{\infty,1}$  and we prove that its computation is NP-hard. For the purposes of various applications to be given later, the result is presented in several different settings (Theorems 3 through 6).

#### 1.1 Subordinate norms

Given two vector norms  $||x||_{\alpha}$  in  $R^n$  and  $||x||_{\beta}$  in  $R^m$ , a subordinate matrix norm in  $R^{m\times n}$  is defined by

$$||A||_{\alpha,\beta} = \max_{||x||_{\alpha}=1} ||Ax||_{\beta}$$

(see Golub and van Loan [18] or Higham [20]).  $\|A\|_{\alpha,\beta}$  is a matrix norm, i.e., it possesses the three usual properties: 1)  $\|A\|_{\alpha,\beta} \geq 0$  and  $\|A\|_{\alpha,\beta} = 0$  if and only if A = 0, 2)  $\|A + B\|_{\alpha,\beta} \leq \|A\|_{\alpha,\beta} + \|B\|_{\alpha,\beta}, 3$ )  $\|\lambda A\|_{\alpha,\beta} = |\lambda| \cdot \|A\|_{\alpha,\beta}$ . However, generally it does not possess the property  $\|AB\|_{\alpha,\beta} \leq \|A\|_{\alpha,\beta} \|B\|_{\alpha,\beta}$  (it does e.g. if  $\alpha = \beta$ ).

By combining the three most frequently used norms

$$||x||_1 = \sum_i |x_i|,$$

$$||x||_2 = \sqrt{x^T x},$$
  
$$||x||_{\infty} = \max_i |x_i|,$$

we get nine subordinate norms, including the three usual norms

$$||A||_1 := ||A||_{1,1} = \max_j \sum_i |a_{ij}|,$$
  
$$||A||_2 := ||A||_{2,2} = \sqrt{\lambda_{\max}(A^T A)},$$
  
$$||A||_{\infty} := ||A||_{\infty,\infty} = \max_i \sum_i |a_{ij}|.$$

Yet it turns out that one of these nine norms has an exceptional behavior in the sense that it is much more difficult to compute than the other ones: namely, the norm

$$||A||_{\infty,1} = \max_{||x||_{\infty}=1} ||Ax||_1.$$

This norm can be computed by a finite formula which, however, involves maximization over the set Z of all  $\pm 1$ -vectors (whose cardinality is  $2^n$ ):

**Proposition 1** For each  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  we have

$$||A||_{\infty,1} = \max_{z \in Z} ||Az||_1 \tag{1.1}$$

where

$$Z = \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^n; z_i \in \{-1, 1\} \text{ for each } j \}.$$
 (1.2)

Moreover, if A is symmetric positive semidefinite, then

$$||A||_{\infty,1} = \max_{z \in Z} z^T A z. \tag{1.3}$$

*Proof.* 1) If  $||x||_{\infty} = 1$ , then x belongs to the unit cube  $\{x; -e \leq x \leq e\}$ , which is a convex polyhedron, therefore x can be expressed as a convex combination of its vertices which are exactly the points in Z:

$$x = \sum_{z \in Z} \lambda_z z, \tag{1.4}$$

where  $\lambda_z \geq 0$  for each  $z \in Z$  and  $\sum_{z \in Z} \lambda_z = 1$ . From (1.4) we have

$$||Ax||_1 = ||\sum_{z \in Z} \lambda_z Az||_1 \le \max_{z \in Z} ||Az||_1,$$

hence

$$\max_{\|x\|_{\infty}=1} \|Ax\|_1 \le \max_{z \in Z} \|Az\|_1 \le \max_{\|x\|_{\infty}=1} \|Ax\|_1$$

(since  $||z||_{\infty} = 1$  for each  $z \in Z$ ) and (1.1) follows.

2) Let A be symmetric positive semidefinite and let  $z \in Z$ . Define  $y \in Z$  by  $y_j = 1$  if  $(Az)_j \ge 0$  and  $y_j = -1$  if  $(Az)_j < 0$  (j = 1, ..., n), then

$$||Az||_1 = y^T A z.$$

Since A is symmetric positive semidefinite, we have

$$(y-z)^T A(y-z) \ge 0,$$

which implies

$$2y^T A z \le y^T A y + z^T A z \le 2 \max_{z \in Z} z^T A z,$$

hence

$$||Az||_1 = y^T A z \le \max_{z \in Z} z^T A z$$

and

$$||A||_{\infty,1} = \max_{z \in Z} ||Az||_1 \le \max_{z \in Z} z^T A z.$$
 (1.5)

Conversely, for each  $z \in Z$  we have

$$z^T A z \le |z|^T \cdot |Az| = ||Az||_1 \le \max_{z \in Z} ||Az||_1 = ||A||_{\infty,1},$$

hence

$$\max_{z \in Z} z^T A z \le ||A||_{\infty,1},$$

which together with (1.5) gives (1.3).

In the next subsection we shall prove that computing  $||A||_{\infty,1}$  is NP-hard. This will imply that unless P=NP, the formula (1.1) cannot be essentially simplified.

### 1.2 Computing $||A||_{\infty,1}$ is NP-hard

In order to prove the NP-hardness for a possibly narrow class of matrices, we introduce the following concept (first formulated in [40]):

**Definition** A real symmetric  $n \times n$  matrix  $A = (a_{ij})$  is called an MC-matrix<sup>3</sup> if it is of the form

$$a_{ij} \begin{cases} = n & \text{if } i = j \\ \in \{0, -1\} & \text{if } i \neq j \end{cases}$$

$$(i,j=1,\ldots,n).$$

Since an MC-matrix is symmetric by definition, there are altogether  $2^{n(n-1)/2}$  MC-matrices of size n. The basic properties of MC-matrices are summed up in the following proposition:

**Proposition 2** An MC-matrix  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is symmetric positive definite, nonnegative invertible and satisfies

$$||A||_{\infty,1} = \max_{z \in Z} z^T A z, \tag{1.6}$$

$$n \le ||A||_{\infty,1} \le n(2n-1) \tag{1.7}$$

and

$$||A^{-1}||_1 \le 1.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>from "maximum cut" (see the proof of Theorem 3 below)

*Proof.* A is symmetric by definition; it is positive definite since for  $x \neq 0$ ,

$$x^{T} A x \ge n \|x\|_{2}^{2} - \sum_{i \ne j} |x_{i} x_{j}| = (n+1) \|x\|_{2}^{2} - \|x\|_{1}^{2} \ge \|x\|_{2}^{2} > 0$$

 $(\|x\|_1 \le \sqrt{n} \|x\|_2)$  by Cauchy-Schwartz inequality [18]). Hence (1.6) holds by Proposition 1. Since  $|a_{ij}| \le 1$  for  $i \ne j$ , for each  $z \in Z$  and  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$  we have

$$z_i(Az)_i = n + \sum_{j \neq i} a_{ij} z_i z_j \in [1, 2n - 1],$$

hence

$$n \le z^T A z \le n(2n - 1)$$

for each  $z \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and (1.6) implies (1.7). By definition, A is of the form

$$A = nI - A_0 = n(I - \frac{1}{n}A_0)$$

where  $A_0 = nI - A \ge 0$  and  $\|\frac{1}{n}A_0\|_1 \le \frac{n-1}{n} < 1$ , hence

$$A^{-1} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{0}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{n} A_0)^j \ge 0$$

and

$$||A^{-1}||_1 \le \frac{1}{n - ||A_0||_1} \le 1.$$

The following basic result is due to Poljak and Rohn [33] (given there in a slightly different formulation without using the concept of an MC-matrix).

**Theorem 3** The following decision problem is NP-complete:

Instance. An MC-matrix A and a positive integer  $\ell$ .

Question. Is  $z^T A z \ge \ell$  for some  $z \in \mathbb{Z}$ ?

*Proof.* Let (N, E) be a graph with  $N = \{1, ..., n\}$ . Let  $A = (a_{ij})$  be given by  $a_{ij} = n$  if i = j,  $a_{ij} = -1$  if  $i \neq j$  and the nodes i, j are connected by an edge, and  $a_{ij} = 0$  if  $i \neq j$  and i, j are not connected. Then A is an MC-matrix. For  $S \subseteq N$ , define the cut c(S) as the number of edges in E whose one endpoint belongs to S and the other one to  $N \setminus S$ . We shall prove that

$$||A||_{\infty,1} = 4 \max_{S \subseteq N} c(S) - 2\operatorname{Card}(E) + n^2$$
 (1.8)

holds. Given a  $S \subseteq N$ , define a  $z \in Z$  by

$$z_i = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i \in S \\ -1 & \text{if } i \notin S. \end{cases}$$

Then we have

$$z^{T}Az = \sum_{i,j} a_{ij}z_{i}z_{j} = \sum_{i\neq j} a_{ij}z_{i}z_{j} + n^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{i\neq j} \left[ -\frac{1}{2}a_{ij}(z_{i} - z_{j})^{2} + a_{ij} \right] + n^{2}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{z_{i}z_{j}=-1} a_{ij}(z_{i} - z_{j})^{2} + \sum_{i\neq j} a_{ij} + n^{2}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{z_{i}z_{j}=-1} 4a_{ij} + \sum_{i\neq j} a_{ij} + n^{2},$$

hence

$$z^{T}Az = 4c(S) - 2\operatorname{Card}(E) + n^{2}.$$
 (1.9)

Conversely, given a  $z \in Z$ , then for  $S = \{i \in N; z_i = 1\}$  the same reasoning implies (1.9). Taking maximum on both sides of (1.9), we obtain (1.8) in view of (1.6).

Hence, given a positive integer L, we have

$$c(S) \ge L \tag{1.10}$$

for some  $S \subseteq N$  if and only if

$$z^T A z \ge 4L - 2\operatorname{Card}(E) + n^2$$

for some  $z \in Z$ . Since the decision problem (1.10) is NP-complete ("simple max-cut problem", Garey, Johnson and Stockmeyer [17]), we obtain that the decision problem

$$z^T A z \ge \ell \tag{1.11}$$

( $\ell$  positive integer) is NP-hard. It is NP-complete since for a guessed solution  $z \in Z$  the validity of (1.11) can be checked in polynomial time.

In this way, we have also proved the following result:

**Theorem 4** Computing  $||A||_{\infty,1}$  is NP-hard for MC-matrices.

In a sharp contrast with this result, the norm  $||A||_{1,\infty}$  (with indices swapped) can be computed in polynomial time:

$$||A||_{1,\infty} = \max_{i,j} |a_{ij}| \tag{1.12}$$

(Higham [20]).

To facilitate formulations of some subsequent results, it is advantageous to remove the integer parameter  $\ell$  from the formulation of Theorem 3. This can be done by using M-matrices instead of MC-matrices. Let us recall that  $A = (a_{ij})$  is called an M-matrix if  $a_{ij} \leq 0$  for  $i \neq j$  and  $A^{-1} \geq 0$  (a number of equivalent formulations may be found in Berman and Plemmons [5]); hence each MC-matrix is an M-matrix (Proposition 2). Since a symmetric M-matrix is positive definite [5], this property is not explicitly mentioned in the following theorem:

**Theorem 5** The following decision problem is NP-hard:

Instance. An  $n \times n$  symmetric rational M-matrix A with  $||A||_1 \leq 2n-1$ . Question. Is  $||A||_{\infty,1} \geq 1$ ?

*Proof.* Given an MC-matrix A and a positive integer  $\ell$ , the assertion

$$z^T A z \ge \ell$$
 for some  $z \in Z$ 

is equivalent to  $||A||_{\infty,1} \ge \ell$  and thereby also to

$$\left\| \frac{1}{\ell} A \right\|_{\infty, 1} \ge 1,$$

where  $\frac{1}{\ell}A$  is a symmetric rational M-matrix with  $\|\frac{1}{\ell}A\|_1 \leq \|A\|_1 \leq 2n-1$ . Hence the decision problem of Theorem 3 can be reduced in polynomial time to the current one, which is then NP-hard.

Finally we shall show that even computing a sufficiently close approximation of  $||A||_{\infty,1}$  is NP-hard:

**Theorem 6** Suppose there exists a polynomial-time algorithm which for each  $MC-matrix\ A\ computes\ a\ rational\ number\ \nu(A)\ satisfying$ 

$$|\nu(A) - ||A||_{\infty,1}| < \frac{1}{2}.$$

Then P=NP.

*Proof.* If such an algorithm exists, then  $||A||_{\infty,1} < \nu(A) + \frac{1}{2} < ||A||_{\infty,1} + 1$ , hence

$$||A||_{\infty,1} = \left|\nu(A) + \frac{1}{2}\right|$$

(since  $||A||_{\infty,1}$  is integer for an MC-matrix A, see (1.6)), hence the NP-hard problem of Theorem 4 can be solved in polynomial time, 3 implying P=NP.

### 2 Regularity

In the rest of this chapter we shall investigate complexity of checking various properties of square interval matrices. An interval matrix  $A^{I}$  is a set of matrices of the form

$$A^{I} = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}] = \{A; \underline{A} \le A \le \overline{A}\},\tag{2.1}$$

where the inequalities are understood componentwise and  $\underline{A} \leq \overline{A}$ . Introducing the center matrix

$$A_c = \frac{1}{2}(\underline{A} + \overline{A})$$

and the nonnegative radius matrix

$$\Delta = \frac{1}{2}(\overline{A} - \underline{A}),$$

we can also write the interval matrix (2.1) in the form

$$A^{I} = [A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta] \tag{2.2}$$

which in many contexts turns out to be more useful than  $(2.1)^4$ .

A square interval matrix  $A^I$  is said to be regular if each  $A \in A^I$  is nonsingular, and it is called singular otherwise (i.e., if it contains a singular matrix). Regularity of interval matrices plays an important role in theory of linear interval equations (Neumaier [30]), but it is also useful in some other respects since checking several properties of interval matrices (studied in the subsequent sections) can be reduced to checking regularity.

This section is devoted to the problem of checking regularity of interval matrices. We prove that the problem is NP-hard (Theorem 9) and describe some necessary and/or sufficient regularity conditions (subsection 2.2). In the last subsection it is proved that computing (even approximately) the radius of nonsingularity is NP-hard.

### 2.1 Checking regularity is NP-hard

Let us introduce the matrix of all ones

$$E = ee^{T} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The basic relationship of the current problem to the contents of the previous section is provided by the following equivalence:

**Proposition 7** For a symmetric positive definite matrix A, the following assertions are equivalent:

- (i)  $||A||_{\infty,1} \ge 1$ ,
- (ii) the interval matrix

$$[A^{-1} - E, A^{-1} + E] (2.3)$$

is singular.

(iii) the interval matrix (2.3) contains a symmetric singular matrix A' of the form

$$A' = A^{-1} - \frac{zz^T}{z^T A z} \tag{2.4}$$

for some  $z \in Z$ .

<sup>4</sup>the "I" in  $A^I$  is an abbreviation of the word "interval" and has nothing to do with the unit matrix I

*Proof.* (i) $\Rightarrow$ (iii): Due to Proposition 1, if (i) holds, then

$$||A||_{\infty,1} = \max_{z \in Z} z^T A z \ge 1,$$

hence  $z^T A z \ge 1$  for some  $z \in Z$ . Since

$$\left| \frac{zz^T}{z^T A z} \right| \le E,$$

the matrix A' defined by (2.4) belongs to  $[A^{-1} - E, A^{-1} + E]$  and satisfies

$$A'Az = z - \frac{z(z^T A z)}{z^T A z} = 0,$$

where  $Az \neq 0$  (A is nonsingular since it is positive definite), hence A' is singular, and obviously also symmetric.

(iii)⇒(ii) is obvious.

(ii) $\Rightarrow$ (i): Let A''x = 0 for some  $A'' \in [A^{-1} - E, A^{-1} + E]$  and  $x \neq 0$ . Define  $z \in Z$  by  $z_j = 1$  if  $x_j \geq 0$  and  $z_j = -1$  otherwise  $(j = 1, \ldots, n)$ . Then we have

$$e^{T}|x| = z^{T}x = z^{T}A(A^{-1} - A'')x \le |z^{T}A(A^{-1} - A'')x| \le |z^{T}A|e^{T}|x|,$$

hence

$$1 \le |z^T A| e = ||Az||_1 \le ||A||_{\infty,1},$$

which is (i).

The next result was published by Poljak and Rohn in a report form [32] in 1988 and in a journal form [33] in 1993:

**Theorem 8** The following problem is NP-complete:

Instance. A nonnegative symmetric positive definite rational matrix A. Question. Is [A - E, A + E] singular?

*Proof.* For a symmetric rational M-matrix A (which is positive definite [5]),

$$||A||_{\infty,1} \ge 1 \tag{2.5}$$

is according to Proposition 7 equivalent to singularity of

$$[A^{-1} - E, A^{-1} + E],$$

where  $A^{-1}$  is rational, nonnegative and symmetric positive definite. Since computing  $A^{-1}$  can be done by Gaussian elimination in polynomial time (Edmonds [14]), we have a polynomial-time reduction of the NP-hard problem (2.5) (Theorem 5) to the current problem, which is thus also NP-hard.

If [A-E,A+E] is singular, then it contains a rational singular matrix of the form

$$A - \frac{zz^T}{z^T A^{-1} z}$$

for some  $z \in Z$  (Proposition 7, (ii) $\Leftrightarrow$  (iii)) which can be guessed (generated by a nondeterministic polynomial-time algorithm) and then checked for singularity by Gaussian elimination in polynomial time [14]. Thus the problem is in the class NP, hence it it NP-complete.

The result immediately implies NP-hardness of checking regularity:

**Theorem 9** The following problem is NP-hard:

 ${\bf Instance.}\ A\ nonnegative\ symmetric\ positive\ definite\ rational\ matrix\ A.$ 

Question. Is [A - E, A + E] regular?

This result was proved independently, also in 1993, by Nemirovskii [28] who employed a different approach based on another subclass of interval matrices.

As a by-product of the equivalence (ii) $\Leftrightarrow$ (iii) of Proposition 7 we obtain that the problem of checking regularity of all *symmetric* matrices contained in [A-E,A+E] is also NP-hard.

### 2.2 Necessary and/or sufficient conditions

In view of the NP-hardness result of Theorem 9, no easily verifiable necessary and sufficient regularity conditions may be expected. Indeed, 13 such conditions are proved in Theorem 5.1 in [37], all of which exhibit exponential behaviour. Probably the most easily implementable criterion is that one by Baumann [3] (Theorem 11 below) which employs matrices  $A_{yz}$ ,  $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , defined for an  $n \times n$  interval matrix  $A^I = [A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta] = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  by

$$(A_{yz})_{ij} = (A_c)_{ij} - \Delta_{ij} y_i z_j \tag{2.6}$$

 $(i, j = 1, \dots, n)$ . If  $y, z \in Z$ , then we have

$$(A_{yz})_{ij} = \begin{cases} \overline{A}_{ij} & \text{if } y_i z_j = -1, \\ \underline{A}_{ij} & \text{if } y_i z_j = 1 \end{cases}$$
 (2.7)

for each i, j, hence  $A_{yz} \in A^I$  in this case. We shall first formulate an auxiliary result which will form a basis for proofs of the other results in this subsection. It is a consequence of the Oettli-Prager theorem [31].

**Proposition 10** An interval matrix  $A^{I} = [A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$  is singular if and only if the inequality

$$|A_c x| \le \Delta |x| \tag{2.8}$$

has a nontrivial solution.

*Proof.* If  $A^I$  contains a singular matrix A, then Ax=0 for some  $x\neq 0$ , which implies

$$|A_c x| = |(A_c - A)x| \le \Delta |x|.$$

Conversely, let (2.8) hold for some  $x \neq 0$ . Define  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $z \in \mathbb{Z}$  by

$$y_i = \begin{cases} (A_c x)_i / (\Delta |x|)_i & \text{if } (\Delta |x|)_i > 0, \\ 1 & \text{if } (\Delta |x|)_i = 0 \end{cases}$$

and

$$z_j = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x_j \ge 0, \\ -1 & \text{if } x_j < 0 \end{cases}$$

(i, j = 1, ..., n). Then for the matrix  $A_{yz}$  given by (2.6) we have

$$(A_{yz}x)_i = (A_cx)_i - y_i(\Delta|x|)_i = 0$$

for each i, hence  $A_{yz}$  is singular, and since  $|y_i| \leq 1$  for each i due to (2.8), from (2.6) it follows that  $A_{yz} \in A^I$ , hence  $A^I$  is singular.

Baumann's criterion employs a finite set of test matrices  $A_{yz}$  for  $y, z \in Z$  (of cardinality at most  $2^{2n-1}$  since  $A_{-y,-z} = A_{yz}$ ).

**Theorem 11** An interval matrix  $A^I$  is regular if and only if determinants of all the matrices  $A_{yz}$ ,  $y, z \in Z$  are nonzero and of the same sign.

*Proof.* Let  $A^I$  be regular and assume that

$$(\det A_{yz})(\det A_{y'z'}) \le 0$$

holds for some  $y, z, y', z' \in Z$ . Define a real function  $\varphi$  of one real variable by

$$\varphi(t) = \det(A_{yz} + t(A_{y'z'} - A_{yz})), \quad t \in [0, 1].$$

Then  $\varphi(0)\varphi(1) \leq 0$ , hence there exists a  $\tau \in [0,1]$  with  $\varphi(\tau) = 0$ . Thus the matrix  $A_{yz} + \tau(A_{y'z'} - A_{yz})$  is singular and belongs to  $A^I$  (due to its convexity), which is a contradiction. Hence

$$(\det A_{yz})(\det A_{y'z'}) > 0$$

holds for each  $y, z, y', z' \in Z$ .

Conversely, let  $A^I$  be singular. From the proof of Proposition 10 we know that there exists a singular matrix of the form  $A_{yz}$  for some  $|y| \le e, z \in Z$ . Let us introduce the function

$$f(s) = \det A_{sz}$$

for  $s \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and define a vector  $\overline{y} = (\overline{y}_j) \in \mathbb{Z}$  componentwise by induction on  $j = 1, \ldots, n$  as follows: if the function of one real variable

$$f(\overline{y}_1, \dots, \overline{y}_{j-1}, t, y_{j+1}, \dots, y_n)$$
(2.9)

is increasing in t, set  $\overline{y}_j := 1$ , otherwise set  $\overline{y}_j := -1$ . Since the function (2.9) is linear in t due to (2.6), we have

$$f(\overline{y}_1,\ldots,\overline{y}_{j-1},y_j,y_{j+1},\ldots,y_n) \leq f(\overline{y}_1,\ldots,\overline{y}_{j-1},\overline{y}_j,y_{j+1},\ldots,y_n)$$

for each j, and by induction

$$0 = \det A_{yz} = f(y_1, \dots, y_n) \le f(\overline{y}_1, \dots, \overline{y}_n) = \det A_{\overline{y}z},$$

hence  $0 \le \det A_{\overline{y}z}$ ,  $\overline{y}$ ,  $z \in Z$ . In an analogous way we may construct a  $\underline{y} \in Z$  satisfying  $\det A_{yz} \le 0$ . Hence

$$(\det A_{yz})(\det A_{\overline{y}z}) \le 0$$

for some  $\underline{y}, \overline{y}, z \in \mathbb{Z}$ , which concludes the proof of the second implication.

In view of the exponentiality inherent in the necessary and sufficient conditions, in practical computations we must resort to verifiable sufficient conditions. We survey the most useful ones in the next theorem:

**Theorem 12** Each of the two conditions implies regularity of  $[A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$ :

- (i)  $\varrho(|A_c^{-1}|\Delta) < 1$ ,
- (ii)  $\sigma_{\max}(\Delta) < \sigma_{\min}(A_c)$ .

Furthermore, each of the following two conditions implies singularity of  $[A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$ :

- (iii)  $\max_j (\Delta |A_c^{-1}|)_{jj} \ge 1$ ,
- $(iv) (\Delta |A_c|)^{-1} \ge 0.$

*Proof.* (i) Assume to the contrary that  $A^{I}$  is singular, then

$$|A_c x| \le \Delta |x| \tag{2.10}$$

for some  $x \neq 0$  (Proposition 10), hence

$$|x'| \le \Delta |A_c^{-1}x'| \le \Delta |A_c^{-1}||x'|$$

holds for  $x' = A_c x \neq 0$ , which implies

$$1 \le \varrho(\Delta |A_c^{-1}|) = \varrho(|A_c^{-1}|\Delta)$$

(Neumaier [30]), a contradiction.

(ii) Again assuming to the contrary that  $A^I$  is singular, we have that (2.10) holds for some  $x \neq 0$  which may be normalized so that  $||x||_2 = 1$ , hence also

$$|A_c x|^T |A_c x| \le (\Delta |x|)^T (\Delta |x|),$$

which implies

$$\sigma_{\min}^{2}(A_{c}) = \lambda_{\min}(A_{c}^{T}A_{c}) = \min_{\|x\|_{2}=1} x^{T} A_{c}^{T} A_{c} x \leq (A_{c}x)^{T} (A_{c}x) 
\leq |A_{c}x|^{T} |A_{c}x| \leq (\Delta|x|)^{T} (\Delta|x|) = |x|^{T} \Delta^{T} \Delta|x| 
\leq \max_{\|x\|_{2}=1} x^{T} \Delta^{T} \Delta x = \lambda_{\max}(\Delta^{T}\Delta) = \sigma_{\max}^{2}(\Delta),$$

hence

$$\sigma_{\min}(A_c) \leq \sigma_{\max}(\Delta),$$

which is a contradiction.

(iii) Let  $(\Delta |A_c^{-1}|)_{jj} \geq 1$  for some j and let  $e_j$  denote the jth column of the unit matrix I. Then

$$e_j \le \Delta |A_c^{-1}| e_j = \Delta |A_c^{-1} e_j|$$

holds, hence for  $x = A_c^{-1} e_j \neq 0$  we have

$$|A_c x| \le \Delta |x|$$

and  $A^I$  is singular due to Proposition 10.

(iv) Let  $(\Delta - |A_c|)^{-1} \ge 0$ . Then for  $x = (\Delta - |A_c|)^{-1}e$  we have x > 0 and  $(\Delta - |A_c|)x = e > 0$ , hence

$$|A_c x| \le |A_c| x < \Delta x = \Delta |x|$$

and Proposition 10 implies singularity of  $A^{I}$ .

The condition (i), which is most frequently used, is due to Beeck [4]; an interval matrix satisfying (i) is called strongly regular (Neumaier [30]). The second condition is due to Rump [44]. The condition (iii) is proved in [37], and (iv) comes from [42].

### 2.3 Radius of nonsingularity

Given an  $n \times n$  matrix A and a nonnegative "directional"  $n \times n$  matrix  $\Delta$ , the radius of nonsingularity is defined by

$$d(A, \Delta) = \inf\{\varepsilon \ge 0; [A - \varepsilon \Delta, A + \varepsilon \Delta] \text{ is singular}\}$$
 (2.11)

(i.e.,  $d(A, \Delta) = \infty$  if no such  $\varepsilon$  exists; if  $d(A, \Delta) < \infty$ , then the infimum is achieved as minimum). This notion was seemingly first formulated by Neumaier [29] and was since studied by Poljak and Rohn [32], [33], Demmel [12], Rohn [38] and Rump [46], [45] (Demmel and Rump use the term "componentwise distance to the nearest singular matrix"). A general formula for  $d(A, \Delta)$  was given in [33]:

$$d(A, \Delta) = \frac{1}{\max\{\rho_0(A^{-1}T_1\Delta T_2); |T_1| = |T_2| = I\}},$$
(2.12)

with convention  $\frac{1}{0} = \infty$ . Here  $\varrho_0$  denotes the real spectral radius defined by  $\varrho_0(A) = \max\{|\lambda|; \lambda \text{ is a real eigenvalue of } A\}$  and  $\varrho_0(A) = 0$  if no real eigenvalue exists. A matrix T satisfying |T| = I is obviously a diagonal matrix with  $\pm 1$  entries on the diagonal. There are  $2^n$  such matrices, hence the formula (2.12) is finite.

Consider the special case of  $\Delta = E$  and denote

$$d(A) := d(A, E).$$

d(A) is always finite and d(A) = 0 if and only if A is singular. We have this result [33]:

**Proposition 13** For each nonsingular A there holds

$$d(A) = \frac{1}{\|A^{-1}\|_{\infty,1}}. (2.13)$$

*Proof.* Since  $||A||_{1,\infty} = \max_{ij} |a_{ij}|$  (see (1.12)), Kahan's theorem [22] gives

$$\begin{split} d(A) &= \min\{\varepsilon \geq 0; \, [A - \varepsilon E, A + \varepsilon E] \text{ is singular} \} \\ &= \min\{\|A - A'\|_{1,\infty}; \, A' \text{ is singular} \} \\ &= \frac{1}{\|A^{-1}\|_{\infty,1}}. \end{split}$$

The formula (2.13) implies this complexity result:

**Proposition 14** The following problem is NP-hard:

Instance. A nonnegative symmetric positive definite rational matrix A. Question. Is  $d(A) \leq 1$ ?

*Proof.* For a symmetric M-matrix A,

$$||A||_{\infty,1} \ge 1$$

is according to (2.13) equivalent to

$$d(A^{-1}) < 1$$
,

where  $A^{-1}$  is rational, nonnegative symmetric positive definite, hence the NP-hard problem of Theorem 5 can be reduced in polynomial time to the current one, which is thus NP-hard as well.

As an immediate consequence we obtain [33]:

**Theorem 15** Computing the radius of nonsingularity is NP-hard (even in the special case  $\Delta = E$ ).

In the next theorem we prove that even computing a sufficiently close approximation of the radius of nonsingularity is NP-hard.

**Theorem 16** Suppose there exists a polynomial-time algorithm which for each non-negative symmetric positive definite rational matrix A computes a rational approximation d'(A) of d(A) satisfying

$$\left| \frac{d'(A) - d(A)}{d(A)} \right| \le \frac{1}{4n^2},$$

where n is the size of A. Then P=NP.

*Proof.* Let A be an  $n \times n$  MC-matrix, then  $A^{-1}$  is rational nonnegative symmetric positive definite, hence we have

$$\left| \frac{d'(A^{-1}) - d(A^{-1})}{d(A^{-1})} \right| \le \frac{1}{4n^2}.$$

Since  $||A||_{\infty,1} \le n(2n-1)$  by Proposition 2, there holds  $2||A||_{\infty,1}+1 \le 4n^2-2n+1 < 4n^2$ , hence

$$\left| \frac{d'(A^{-1})}{d(A^{-1})} - 1 \right| \le \frac{1}{4n^2} < \frac{1}{2\|A\|_{\infty,1} + 1} < \frac{1}{2\|A\|_{\infty,1} - 1},$$

which implies

$$\frac{2\|A\|_{\infty,1}}{2\|A\|_{\infty,1}+1} = 1 - \frac{1}{2\|A\|_{\infty,1}+1} < \frac{d'(A^{-1})}{d(A^{-1})} < 1 + \frac{1}{2\|A\|_{\infty,1}-1} = \frac{2\|A\|_{\infty,1}}{2\|A\|_{\infty,1}-1}$$

and by (2.13),

$$\frac{2}{2\|A\|_{\infty,1}+1} < d'(A^{-1}) < \frac{2}{2\|A\|_{\infty,1}-1}$$

and

$$\left| \frac{1}{d'(A^{-1})} - \|A\|_{\infty,1} \right| < \frac{1}{2}.$$

Hence we have a polynomial-time algorithm for computing  $||A||_{\infty,1}$  with accuracy better than  $\frac{1}{2}$ , which according to Theorem 6 implies that P=NP.

Bounds on the radius of nonsingularity can be derived from sufficient regularity or singularity conditions. E.g., from Theorem 12 we have

$$\frac{1}{\varrho(|A^{-1}|\Delta)} \le d(A,\Delta) \le \frac{1}{\max_i(\Delta|A^{-1}|)_{ii}}.$$

Using a sophisticated reasoning, Rump [46], [45] recently proved a "symmetric" estimation

$$\frac{1}{\varrho(|A^{-1}|\Delta)} \le d(A,\Delta) \le \frac{6n}{\varrho(|A^{-1}|\Delta)}.$$

R3elated to the radius of nonsingularity is the structured singular value introduced by Doyle [13]. The NP-hardness of its computation was proved by Braatz, Young, Doyle and Morari [8] and independently by Coxson and DeMarco [10].

### 3 Positive definiteness

A square matrix A (not necessarily symmetric) is called positive definite if  $x^T A x > 0$  for each  $x \neq 0$ . Since for the symmetric matrix

$$A_s = \frac{1}{2}(A + A^T)$$

there holds  $x^T A x = x^T A_s x$  for each x, we have that A is positive definite if and only if  $A_s$  is positive definite, and positive definiteness of a symmetric matrix  $A_s$  may be checked by Sylvester determinant criterion [27] using Gaussian elimination, hence it can be done in polynomial time [14].

An interval matrix  $A^I$  is said to be positive definite if each  $A \in A^I$  is positive definite. In this section we show that due to a close relationship between positive definiteness and regularity (Theorem 17), the results of the previous section may be applied to prove that checking positive definiteness is NP-hard even for symmetric interval matrices (Theorem 20). In the last subsection we again give some necessary and/or sufficient conditions for positive definiteness of interval matrices.

### 3.1 Positive definiteness and regularity

For a square interval matrix

$$A^{I} = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}], \tag{3.1}$$

define

$$A_s^I = \left[\frac{1}{2}(\underline{A} + \underline{A}^T), \frac{1}{2}(\overline{A} + \overline{A}^T)\right]. \tag{3.2}$$

Hence,  $A \in A^I$  implies  $\frac{1}{2}(A + A^T) \in A_s^I$ , and  $(A_s^I)_s = A_s^I$ . An interval matrix (3.1) is called *symmetric* if  $A^I = A_s^I$ . It can be easily seen that (3.1) is symmetric if and only if the bounds  $\underline{A}$  and  $\overline{A}$  are symmetric. Similarly, an interval matrix in the form  $[A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$  is symmetric if and only if both  $A_c$  and  $\Delta$  are symmetric. Hence, a symmetric interval matrix may contain nonsymmetric matrices (indeed, it is the case if and only if  $\underline{A}_{ij} < \overline{A}_{ij}$  for some  $i \neq j$ ).

In the next theorem we show that positive definiteness of interval matrices is closely related to regularity [39]:

**Theorem 17** An interval matrix  $A^I$  is positive definite if and only if  $A_s^I$  is regular and contains at least one positive definite matrix.

*Proof.* Let 
$$A^I = [A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$$
, so that  $A_s^I = [A_c' - \Delta', A_c' + \Delta']$ , where

$$A_c' = \frac{1}{2}(A_c + A_c^T)$$

and

$$\Delta' = \frac{1}{2}(\Delta + \Delta^T).$$

We shall first prove that if  $A^I$  is positive definite, then  $A^I_s$  is also positive definite. Assume to the contrary that  $A^I_s$  is not positive definite, so that  $x^TA'x \leq 0$  for some  $A' \in A^I_s$  and  $x \neq 0$ . Since  $|x^T(A' - A'_c)x| \leq |x|^T\Delta'|x|$ , we have

$$x^{T}A_{c}x - |x|^{T}\Delta|x| = x^{T}A'_{c}x - |x|^{T}\Delta'|x| \le x^{T}A'_{c}x + x^{T}(A' - A'_{c})x = x^{T}A'x \le 0.$$
 (3.3)

Define a diagonal matrix T by  $T_{jj} = 1$  if  $x_j \ge 0$  and  $T_{jj} = -1$  otherwise. Then |x| = Tx, and from (3.3) we have

$$x^T (A_c - T\Delta T)x \le 0,$$

where  $|T\Delta T| = \Delta$ , hence the matrix  $A_c - T\Delta T$  belongs to  $A^I$  and is not positive definite. This contradiction shows that positive definiteness of  $A^I$  implies positive definiteness of  $A^I_s$ , and thereby also regularity of  $A^I_s$ .

Conversely, let  $A_s^I$  be regular and contain a positive definite matrix  $A_0$ . Assume to the contrary that some  $A_1 \in A^I$  is not positive definite. Let  $\tilde{A}_0 = \frac{1}{2}(A_0 + A_0^T)$ ,  $\tilde{A}_1 = \frac{1}{2}(A_1 + A_1^T)$ , hence both  $\tilde{A}_0$  and  $\tilde{A}_1$  are symmetric and belong to  $A_s^I$ ,  $\tilde{A}_0$  is positive definite whereas  $\tilde{A}_1$  is not. Put

$$\tau = \sup\{t \in [0,1]; \tilde{A}_0 + t(\tilde{A}_1 - \tilde{A}_0) \text{ is positive definite}\}.$$

Then  $\tau \in (0,1]$ , hence the matrix

$$A^* = \tilde{A}_0 + \tau (\tilde{A}_1 - \tilde{A}_0)$$

belongs to  $A_s^I$  (due to its convexity) and is symmetric positive semidefinite, but not positive definite, hence  $\lambda_{\min}(A^*) = 0$ , which shows that  $A^*$  is singular contrary to the assumed regularity of  $A_s^I$ . Hence  $A^I$  is positive definite, which completes the proof.

In the introduction of this section we mentioned that a real matrix A is positive definite if and only if  $A_s$  is positive definite. Theorem 17 now implies that the same relationship holds for interval matrices:

**Proposition 18**  $A^I$  is positive definite if and only if  $A_s^I$  is positive definite.

*Proof.* According to Theorem 17,  $A^I$  is positive definite if and only if  $A^I_s$  is regular and contains a positive definite matrix. If we apply the same theorem to  $A^I_s$  instead of  $A^I$ , in view of the obvious fact that  $(A^I_s)_s = A^I_s$  we obtain that  $A^I_s$  is positive definite if and only if  $A^I_s$  is regular and contains a positive definite matrix. These two equivalences show that  $A^I$  is positive definite if and only if  $A^I_s$  is positive definite.

In the next subsection we shall employ the relationship between positive definiteness and regularity established in Theorem 17 to prove NP-hardness of checking positive definiteness.

### 3.2 Checking positive definiteness is NP-hard

Taking again into consideration the class of interval matrices of the form [A-E,A+E], we arrive at this property:

**Proposition 19** Let A be a symmetric positive definite matrix. Then the interval matrix [A - E, A + E] is positive definite if and only if it is regular.

*Proof.* Under the assumption, the interval matrix  $A^I = [A - E, A + E]$  satisfies  $A_s^I = A^I$  and contains a symmetric positive definite matrix A. Hence according to Theorem 17,  $A^I$  is positive definite if and only if it is regular.

As a direct consequence we prove NP-hardness of checking positive definiteness [40]:

**Theorem 20** The following problem is NP-hard:

 ${\bf Instance.}\ A\ nonnegative\ symmetric\ positive\ definite\ rational\ matrix\ A.$ 

Question. Is [A - E, A + E] positive definite?

*Proof.* In view of Proposition 19, such an interval matrix is positive definite if and only if it is regular. Checking regularity was proved to be NP-hard for this class of interval matrices in Theorem 9. H3ence the same is true for checking positive definiteness.

An interval matrix  $A^I$  is said to be positive semidefinite if each  $A \in A^I$  is positive semidefinite. NP-hardness of checking positive semidefiniteness was proved by Nemirovskii [28] by another means.

### 3.3 Necessary and/or sufficient conditions

A finite characterization of positive definiteness of interval matrices was seemingly first given by Shi and Gao [47] who proved that a symmetric  $A^I = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  is positive definite if and only if each symmetric matrix  $A \in A^I$  of the form  $A_{ii} = \underline{A}_{ii}$ ,  $A_{ij} \in \{\underline{A}_{ij}, \overline{A}_{ij}\}$  for  $i \neq j$ , is positive definite. There are  $2^{n(n-1)/2}$  such matrices. In [39] it was shown that the number of test matrices may be reduced down to  $2^{n-1}$  if we employ instead the set of matrices  $A_{zz}$  defined for  $z \in Z$  by

$$(A_{zz})_{ij} = \begin{cases} \overline{A}_{ij} & \text{if } z_i z_j = -1, \\ \underline{A}_{ij} & \text{if } z_i z_j = 1 \end{cases}$$
 (3.4)

(i, j = 1, ..., n). These are exactly the matrices  $A_{yz}$  (see (2.7)) used in the Baumann regularity criterion (Theorem 11), with y = z. Each  $A_{zz}$  is symmetric if  $A^I$  is symmetric.

**Theorem 21**  $A^I$  is positive definite if and only if each  $A_{zz}$ ,  $z \in Z$  is positive definite.

*Proof.* The "only if" part is obvious since  $A_{zz} \in A^I$  for each  $z \in Z$ . The "if" part was proved in the first part of the proof of Theorem 17 (a matrix  $A_c - T\Delta T$  is of the form  $A_{zz}$  where z is the diagonal vector of T).

In practical computations we may use the following sufficient condition [39] (where  $\lambda_{\min}$  denotes the minimal eigenvalue of a symmetric matrix and  $\varrho$  is the spectral radius):

**Theorem 22** An interval matrix  $A^{I} = [A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$  is positive definite if

$$\varrho(\Delta') < \lambda_{\min}(A'_c)$$

holds, where  $A_c' = \frac{1}{2}(A_c + A_c^T)$  and  $\Delta' = \frac{1}{2}(\Delta + \Delta^T)$ .

*Proof.* For each  $A \in A^I$  and x with  $||x||_2 = 1$  we have

$$x^{T}Ax = x^{T}A_{c}x + x^{T}(A - A_{c})x \ge x^{T}A_{c}x - |x|^{T}\Delta|x| = x^{T}A'_{c}x - |x|^{T}\Delta'|x|$$

$$\ge \lambda_{\min}(A'_{c}) - \lambda_{\max}(\Delta') = \lambda_{\min}(A'_{c}) - \varrho(\Delta') > 0,$$

hence  $A^I$  is positive definite.

### 4 P-property

An  $n \times n$  matrix A is said to be a P-matrix (or, to have the P-property) if all its principal minors are positive; principal minors are determinants of square submatrices formed from rows and columns with the same indices (there are  $2^n - 1$  of them). This definition is due to Fiedler and Pták who also proved the following characterization [15]: A is a P-matrix if and only if for each  $x \neq 0$  there exists an  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  such that  $x_i(Ax)_i > 0$ . P-matrices play important role in several areas, e.g. in the linear complementarity theory since they guarantee existence and uniqueness of the solution of a linear complementarity problem (see Murty [27]).

A symmetric matrix A is a P-matrix if and only if it is positive definite (Wilkinson [51]), hence it can be checked in polynomial time. However, the problem of checking nonsymmetric matrices for P-property is NP-hard, as it was proved by Coxson [9] (the proof of his result is added as an appendix in section 9).

An interval matrix  $A^I$  is called a P-matrix if each  $A \in A^I$  is a P-matrix. In this section we show that due to a close relationship between P-property and positive definiteness (Proposition 24), the problem of checking P-property of interval matrices is NP-hard even in the symmetric case (Theorem 25).

### 4.1 Necessary and sufficient condition

First we give a characterization similar to that of Theorem 21. We shall again employ the matrices  $A_{zz}$ ,  $z \in Z$  defined in (3.4). The following theorem is due to Białas and Garloff [7], reformulation using matrices  $A_{zz}$  comes from Rohn and Rex [43].

**Theorem 23**  $A^{I}$  is a P-matrix if and only if each  $A_{zz}$ ,  $z \in Z$  is a P-matrix.

*Proof.* If  $A^I$  is a P-matrix, then each  $A_{zz}$  is a P-matrix since  $A_{zz} \in A^I$ ,  $z \in Z$ . Conversely, let each  $A_{zz}$ ,  $z \in Z$  be a P-matrix. Take  $A \in A^I$ ,  $x \neq 0$ , and let  $z \in Z$  be defined by  $z_j = 1$  if  $x_j \geq 0$  and  $z_j = -1$  otherwise  $(j = 1, \ldots, n)$ . Since  $A_{zz}$  is a P-matrix, according to the Fiedler-Pták theorem there exists an  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  such that  $x_i(A_{zz}x)_i > 0$ . Then we have

$$x_{i}(Ax)_{i} = \sum_{j} (A_{c})_{ij} x_{i} x_{j} + \sum_{j} (A - A_{c})_{ij} x_{i} x_{j} \ge \sum_{j} (A_{c})_{ij} x_{i} x_{j} - \sum_{j} \Delta_{ij} |x_{i}| |x_{j}|$$

$$= \sum_{j} ((A_{c})_{ij} - \Delta_{ij} z_{i} z_{j}) x_{i} x_{j} = x_{i} (A_{zz} x)_{i} > 0,$$

hence A is a P-matrix by the Fiedler-Pták theorem. This proves that  $A^I$  is a P-matrix.

### 4.2 P-property and positive definiteness

As quoted above, a symmetric matrix A is a P-matrix if and only if it is positive definite. The following result [43], although it sounds verbally alike, is not a trivial consequence of the previous statement since here nonsymmetric matrices may be involved.

**Proposition 24** A symmetric interval matrix  $A^{I}$  is a P-matrix if and only if it is positive definite.

*Proof.* All the matrices  $A_{zz}$ ,  $z \in Z$  defined by (3.4) are symmetric for a symmetric interval matrix  $A^I$ . Hence,  $A^I$  is a P-matrix if and only if each  $A_{zz}$ ,  $z \in Z$  is a P-matrix, which is the case if and only if each  $A_{zz}$ ,  $z \in Z$  is positive definite, and this is equivalent to positive definiteness of  $A^I$  (Theorem 21).

### 4.3 Checking P-property is NP-hard

In the introduction to this section we explained that checking a symmetric matrix for P-property can be performed in polynomial time. Unless  $P\neq NP$ , this is not more true for symmetric interval matrices (Rohn and Rex [43]):

**Theorem 25** The following problem is NP-hard: Instance. A nonnegative symmetric rational P-matrix A. Question. Is [A - E, A + E] a P-matrix?

*Proof.* Since A is symmetric positive definite, [A - E, A + E] is a P-matrix if and only if it is positive definite (Proposition 24). Checking positive definiteness of this class of interval matrices was proved to be NP-hard in Theorem 20.

## 5 Stability

A square matrix A is called stable (sometimes, Hurwitz stable) if  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda < 0$  for each eigenvalue  $\lambda$  of A. For symmetric matrices, this is equivalent to  $\lambda_{\max}(A) < 0$ . An interval matrix  $A^I$  is called stable if each  $A \in A^I$  is stable.

Stability of interval matrices has been extensively studied in control theory due to its close connection to the problem of stability of the solution of a linear time invariant system  $\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t)$  under data perturbations. Due to this fact, a number of sufficient stability conditions exist. We shall not make an attempt to survey them here, referring an interested reader to the survey paper by Mansour [26]. We shall focus our attention on the problem of stability of symmetric interval matrices since they admit a finite characterization (Theorem 27) and are a sufficient tool for proving NP-hardness of checking stability (Theorem 29) and Schur stability (Theorem 31).

### 5.1 Necessary and/or sufficient conditions

The following proposition [39] establishes a link to our previous results.

**Proposition 26** A symmetric interval matrix

$$A^I = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$$

is stable if and only if the symmetric interval matrix

$$-A^I:=[-\overline{A},-\underline{A}]$$

is positive definite.

Proof. First notice that  $A \in A^I$  if and only if  $-A \in -A^I$ . Let  $A^I$  be stable, and consider a symmetric matrix  $A \in -A^I$ . Then  $-A \in A^I$  is symmetric and stable, hence  $\lambda_{\max}(-A) = -\lambda_{\min}(A) < 0$ , so that  $\lambda_{\min}(A) > 0$ , which means that A is positive definite. Hence each symmetric  $A \in -A^I$  is positive definite, which in view of Theorem 21 implies that  $-A^I$  is positive definite.

Conversely, let  $-A^I$  be positive definite. Then a similar argument shows that each symmetric matrix in  $A^I$  is stable, and from Bendixson's theorem (see Stoer and Bulirsch [49]) we have that each eigenvalue  $\lambda$  of each  $A \in A^I$  satisfies

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \le \lambda_{\max}(\frac{1}{2}(A + A^T)) < 0$$

(since  $\frac{1}{2}(A + A^T) \in A^I$ ), hence  $A^I$  is stable.

Consider now the matrices  $A_{yz}$  defined by (2.7) with y = -z, i.e. the matrices satisfying

$$(A_{-z,z})_{ij} = \begin{cases} \overline{A}_{ij} & \text{if } z_i z_j = 1, \\ \underline{A}_{ij} & \text{if } z_i z_j = -1 \end{cases}$$

(i, j = 1, ..., n). Each  $A_{-z,z}$  is symmetric for a symmetric  $A^I$ .

**Theorem 27** A symmetric  $A^{I}$  is stable if and only if each  $A_{-z,z}$ ,  $z \in Z$  is stable.

*Proof.*  $A^I$  is stable if and only if  $-A^I$  is positive definite which in view of Theorem 21 is the case if and only if each  $-A_{-z,z}$ ,  $z \in Z$  is positive definite, and this is equivalent to stability of all  $A_{-z,z}$ ,  $z \in Z$ .

Each matrix  $A_{-z,z}$ ,  $z \in Z$  is a so-called vertex matrix, i.e., it satisfies  $(A_{-z,z})_{ij} \in \{\underline{A}_{ij}, \overline{A}_{ij}\}$  for each i, j. The first attempt to use vertex matrices for characterization of stability was made by Białas [6] who showed that a general interval matrix  $A^I$  is stable if and only if all the vertex matrices are stable. His result, however, was shown to be erroneous by Karl, Greschak and Verghese [23] and by Barmish and Hollot [2], see also Barmish, Fu and Saleh [1]. Soh proved later [48] that a symmetric interval matrix is stable if and only if all the  $2^{n(n+1)/2}$  symmetric vertex matrices are stable. Theorem 27, where the number of vertex matrices to be tested is reduced to  $2^{n-1}$  (since  $A_{-z,z} = A_{z,-z}$ ), was proved in another form by Hertz [19] and Wang and Michel [50], in the present form in [39]. A branch-and-bound algorithm for checking stability of symmetric interval matrices, based on Theorem 27, was given in [41].

For practical purposes we may use the following sufficient condition valid for the nonsymmetric case [39], [11]:

**Theorem 28** An interval matrix  $[A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$  is stable if

$$\lambda_{\max}(A_c') + \varrho(\Delta') < 0 \tag{5.1}$$

holds, where  $A_c' = \frac{1}{2}(A_c + A_c^T)$  and  $\Delta' = \frac{1}{2}(\Delta + \Delta^T)$ .

*Proof.* If (5.1) holds, then  $\varrho(\Delta') < \lambda_{\min}(-A'_c)$ , hence  $[-A'_c - \Delta', -A'_c + \Delta']$  is positive definite by Theorem 22 and  $[A'_c - \Delta', A'_c + \Delta']$  is stable by Proposition 26. Stability of  $[A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$  then follows by using Bendixson's theorem as in the proof of Proposition 26.

### 5.2 Checking stability is NP-hard

NP-hardness of checking stability now follows obviously [40]:

**Theorem 29** The following problem is NP-hard:

Instance. A nonpositive symmetric stable rational matrix A.

Question. Is [A - E, A + E] stable?

*Proof.* By Proposition 26, [A - E, A + E] is stable if and only if [-A - E, -A + E] is positive definite, where -A is a nonnegative symmetric positive definite rational matrix. Hence the result follows from Theorem 20.

Nemirovskii [28] proved NP-hardness of checking stability for general (nonsymmetric) interval matrices.

### 5.3 Schur stability

A square matrix A is called Schur stable if  $\varrho(A) < 1$  (where  $\varrho$  denotes the spectral radius). In order to avoid difficulties caused by complex eigenvalues, we define Schur stability only for symmetric interval matrices in this way: a symmetric  $A^I$  is said to be Schur stable if each  $symmetric\ A \in A^I$  is Schur stable. Hence, we do not take into account the nonsymmetric matrices contained in  $A^I$ . This definition is in accordance with the approach employed in [48] and [19]. Then we have this equivalence:

**Proposition 30** A symmetric interval matrix  $[\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  is stable if and only if the symmetric interval matrix

$$[I + \alpha \underline{A}, I + \alpha \overline{A}]$$

is Schur stable, where

$$\alpha = \frac{2}{\|\underline{A}\|_1 + \|\overline{A} - \underline{A}\|_1 + 2}.$$
 (5.2)

*Proof.* Let  $[\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  be stable. Then for each symmetric  $A' \in [I + \alpha \underline{A}, I + \alpha \overline{A}]$  we have  $A' = I + \alpha A$  for some symmetric  $A \in [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$ , hence  $\lambda_{\max}(A') = 1 + \alpha \lambda_{\max}(A) < 1$ . Furthermore, from

$$|\lambda_{\min}(A)| \le \varrho(A) \le ||A||_1 \le ||\underline{A}||_1 + ||\overline{A} - \underline{A}||_1 < \frac{2}{\alpha}$$

we have

$$\lambda_{\min}(A') = 1 + \alpha \lambda_{\min}(A) > -1,$$

hence A' is Schur stable and thereby  $[I + \alpha \underline{A}, I + \alpha \overline{A}]$  is Schur stable.

Conversely, if  $[I + \alpha \underline{A}, I + \alpha \overline{A}]$  is Schur stable, then each symmetric  $A \in [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  is of the form  $A = \frac{1}{\alpha}(A' - I)$  for some symmetric  $A' \in [I + \alpha \underline{A}, I + \alpha \overline{A}]$ , hence  $\lambda_{\max}(A) = \frac{1}{\alpha}(\lambda_{\max}(A') - 1) < 0$ , and A is stable. Stability of all symmetric matrices in  $[\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  implies stability of  $[\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  due to Theorem 27.

### 5.4 Checking Schur stability is NP-hard

As a consequence of Proposition 30 we obtain this NP-hardness result [40].

**Theorem 31** The following problem is NP-hard:

Instance. A symmetric Schur stable rational matrix A with  $A \leq I$ , and a rational number  $\alpha \in [0,1]$ .

Question. Is 
$$[A - \alpha E, A + \alpha E]$$
 Schur stable?

Proof. For a nonpositive symmetric stable rational matrix A, the symmetric interval matrix [A-E,A+E] is stable if and only if  $[(I+\alpha A)-\alpha E,(I+\alpha A)+\alpha E]$  is Schur stable, where  $\alpha$  is given by (5.2). Here  $I+\alpha A$  is a symmetric Schur stable rational matrix with  $I+\alpha A\leq I$ , and  $\alpha\in[0,1]$ . Hence we have a polynomial-time reduction of the NP-hard problem of Theorem 29 to the current problem, which shows that it is NP-hard as well.

This result differs from those of previous sections where NP-hardness was established for the class of interval matrices of the form [A-E,A+E]. This is explained by the fact that regularity, positive definiteness and stability are invariant under multiplication by a positive parameter whereas Schur stability is not.

### 5.5 Radius of stability

Similarly to the radius of nonsingularity  $d(A, \Delta)$  introduced in subsection 2.3, we may define radius of stability by

$$s(A, \Delta) = \inf\{\varepsilon \ge 0; [A - \varepsilon \Delta, A + \varepsilon \Delta] \text{ is unstable}\}.$$

Hence,  $[A - \varepsilon \Delta, A + \varepsilon \Delta]$  is stable if  $0 \le \varepsilon < s(A, \Delta)$  and unstable if  $\varepsilon \ge s(A, \Delta)$ .

**Proposition 32** Let A be symmetric stable and  $\Delta$  symmetric nonnegative. Then we have

$$s(A, \Delta) = d(A, \Delta).$$

*Proof.*  $[A - \varepsilon \Delta, A + \varepsilon \Delta]$  is stable if and only if  $[-A - \varepsilon \Delta, -A + \varepsilon \Delta]$  is positive definite (Proposition 26) if and only if  $[-A - \varepsilon \Delta, -A + \varepsilon \Delta]$  is regular (Theorem 17) if and only if  $[A - \varepsilon \Delta, A + \varepsilon \Delta]$  is regular. Therefore the values of  $s(A, \Delta)$  and  $d(A, \Delta)$  are equal.

Hence, we may apply the results of subsection 2.3 to the radius of stability. In particular, for a symmetric stable matrix A we have

$$s(A, E) = \frac{1}{\|A^{-1}\|_{\infty, 1}}$$

(Proposition 13) and computing s(A, E) is NP-hard (Theorem 15), even approximately (Theorem 16).

### 6 Eigenvalues

Since regularity, positive definiteness and stability can be formulated in terms of eigenvalues, the results of the previous sections may be applied to obtain some results regarding the eigenvalue problem for interval matrices.

### 6.1 Checking eigenvalues is NP-hard

**Theorem 33** The following problem is NP-hard:

Instance. A nonnegative symmetric positive definite rational matrix A and a rational number  $\lambda$ .

Question. Is  $\lambda$  an eigenvalue of some symmetric matrix in [A-E,A+E]?

*Proof.* [A - E, A + E] is singular if and only if 0 is an eigenvalue of some symmetric matrix in [A - E, A + E] (Proposition 7). Hence the NP-hard problem of Theorem 9 can be reduced in polynomial time to the current problem, which is thereby NP-hard.

It is interesting that rational eigenvectors can be checked in polynomial time, see [38].

### 6.2 Computing the maximal eigenvalue is NP-hard

For an interval matrix  $A^I$  define

$$\overline{\lambda}(A^I) = \max\{\operatorname{Re} \lambda; \lambda \text{ is an eigenvalue of some } A \in A^I\}.$$

If  $A^I$  is symmetric, then an obvious reasoning based on Bendixson's theorem as in section 5 shows that

$$\overline{\lambda}(A^I) = \max\{\lambda_{\max}(A); A \text{ symmetric}, A \in A^I\}.$$

We shall show that computing  $\overline{\lambda}(A^I)$  approximately with relative error less than 1 is NP-hard already for symmetric interval matrices:

**Theorem 34** Suppose there exists a polynomial-time algorithm which for each interval matrix of the form  $A^I = [A - E, A + E]$ , A rational nonpositive symmetric stable, computes a rational number  $\tilde{\lambda}(A^I)$  satisfying

$$\left| \frac{\tilde{\lambda}(A^I) - \overline{\lambda}(A^I)}{\overline{\lambda}(A^I)} \right| < 1$$

if  $\overline{\lambda}(A^I) \neq 0$  and  $\tilde{\lambda}(A^I) \geq 0$  otherwise. Then P=NP.

*Proof.* Under the assumptions,  $\tilde{\lambda}(A^I) < 0$  if and only if  $\overline{\lambda}(A^I) < 0$ , and this is equivalent to stability of  $A^I$ . Hence we have a polynomial-time algorithm for solving the NP-hard problem of Theorem 29, which implies P=NP.

### 6.3 Checking enclosures is NP-hard

Before formulating the result, we prove an auxiliary statement concerning the set of maximal eigenvalues of all symmetric matrices in  $A^{I}$ .

**Proposition 35** For a symmetric interval matrix  $A^{I}$ , the set

$$\lambda_{\max}^{I}(A^{I}) := \{\lambda_{\max}(A); A \text{ symmetric}, A \in A^{I}\}$$

is a compact interval.

*Proof.* Let

$$\frac{\underline{\lambda}(A^I)}{\overline{\lambda}(A^I)} = \min\{\lambda_{\max}(A); A \text{ symmetric}, A \in A^I\}, \\ \overline{\lambda}(A^I) = \max\{\lambda_{\max}(A); A \text{ symmetric}, A \in A^I\}.$$

By continuity argument, both bounds are achieved, hence

$$\frac{\underline{\lambda}(A^I)}{\overline{\lambda}(A^I)} = \lambda_{\max}(A_1),$$

$$\overline{\lambda}(A^I) = \lambda_{\max}(A_2)$$

for some symmetric  $A_1, A_2 \in A^I$ . Define a real function  $\varphi$  of one real variable by

$$\varphi(t) = f(A_1 + t(A_2 - A_1)), \quad t \in [0, 1],$$

where

$$f(A) = \max_{\|x\|_2 = 1} x^T A x.$$

 $\varphi$  is continuous since f(A) is continuous [39], and  $\varphi(0) = f(A_1) = \lambda_{\max}(A_1) = \underline{\lambda}(A^I)$ ,  $\varphi(1) = f(A_2) = \lambda_{\max}(A_2) = \overline{\lambda}(A^I)$ , hence for each  $\lambda \in [\underline{\lambda}(A^I), \overline{\lambda}(A^I)]$  there exists a  $t_{\lambda} \in [0, 1]$  such that

$$\lambda = \varphi(t_{\lambda}) = f(A_1 + t_{\lambda}(A_2 - A_1)) = \lambda_{\max}(A_1 + t_{\lambda}(A_2 - A_1)).$$

Hence each  $\lambda \in [\underline{\lambda}(A^I), \overline{\lambda}(A^I)]$  is the maximal eigenvalue of some symmetric matrix in  $A^I$ , and we have

$$\lambda_{\max}^I(A^I) = [\underline{\lambda}(A^I), \overline{\lambda}(A^I)].$$

In the last result of this section we show that checking enclosures of  $\lambda_{\max}^{I}(A^{I})$  is NP-hard:

**Theorem 36** The following problem is NP-hard:

Instance. A nonpositive symmetric stable rational matrix A, and rational numbers a, b, a < b.

Question. Is 
$$\lambda_{\max}^{I}([A-E,A+E]) \subset (a,b)$$
?

*Proof.* For each symmetric  $A' \in [A - E, A + E]$  we have

$$|\lambda_{\max}(A')| \le \varrho(A') \le ||A'||_1 \le ||A||_1 + ||E||_1 = ||A||_1 + n < \alpha := ||A||_1 + n + 1.$$

Hence due to Theorem 27, [A - E, A + E] is stable if and only if

$$\lambda_{\max}^I([A-E,A+E])\subset (-\alpha,0)$$

holds. This shows that the NP-hard problem of checking stability of [A - E, A + E] (Theorem 29) can be reduced in polynomial time to the current problem, which is thus NP-hard.

### 7 Determinants

Determinants of interval matrices have been scarcely studied in the literature so far. We include here some results that might be of interest.

### 7.1 Edge theorem

The following theorem was proved in [35]:

**Theorem 37** Let  $A^I = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  be an interval matrix. Then for each  $A \in A^I$  there exists an  $A' \in A^I$  of the form

$$A'_{ij} \in \begin{cases} \left\{ \underline{A}_{ij}, \overline{A}_{ij} \right\} & \text{if } (i,j) \neq (k,m), \\ \left[ \underline{A}_{ij}, \overline{A}_{ij} \right] & \text{if } (i,j) = (k,m) \end{cases}$$

$$(7.1)$$

for some (k, m) such that

$$\det A = \det A'$$
.

*Proof.* For each  $\tilde{A} \in A^I$  denote by  $h(\tilde{A})$  the number of entries with  $\tilde{A}_{ij} \notin \{\underline{A}_{ij}, \overline{A}_{ij}\}$ ,  $i, j = 1, \ldots, n$ . Given an  $A \in A^I$ , let A' be a matrix satisfying  $A' \in A^I$ , det  $A' = \det A$  and

$$h(A') = \min\{h(\tilde{A}); \, \tilde{A} \in A^I, \det \tilde{A} = \det A\}. \tag{7.2}$$

If  $h(A') \geq 2$ , then there exist indices  $(p,q), (r,s), (p,q) \neq (r,s)$  such that  $A'_{pq} \in (\underline{A}_{pq}, \overline{A}_{pq}), A'_{rs} \in (\underline{A}_{rs}, \overline{A}_{rs})$ . Then we can move these two entries within their intervals in such a way that at least one achieves its bound, and the determinant is kept unchanged. Then the resulting matrix A'' satisfies h(A'') < h(A'), which is a contradiction. Hence A' defined by (7.2) satisfies  $h(A') \leq 1$ , which shows that it is of the form (7.1), and det  $A = \det A'$  holds.

A matrix of the form (7.1) belongs to an edge of the interval matrix  $A^I$  considered a hyperrectangle in  $R^{n^2}$ . Hence the theorem says that the range of the determinant over  $A^I$  is equal to its range over the edges of  $A^I$ . In particular, for zero values of the determinant we have this "normal form" theorem [37].

**Theorem 38** If  $A^I$  is singular, then it contains a singular matrix of the form (7.1).

As a consequence we obtain that real eigenvalues of matrices in  $A^I$  are achieved at the edge matrices of  $A^I$ .

**Theorem 39** If a real number  $\lambda$  is an eigenvalue of some  $A \in A^I$ , then it is also an eigenvalue of some matrix of the form (7.1).

*Proof.* If  $\lambda$  is a real eigenvalue of some  $A \in A^I = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$ , then  $A - \lambda I$  is a singular matrix belonging to  $[\underline{A} - \lambda I, \overline{A} - \lambda I]$ , which is thus singular, hence by Theorem 38 it contains a singular matrix  $A' - \lambda I$ , where A' is of the form (7.1). Then  $\lambda$  is an eigenvalue of A'.

A general "edge theorem" for complex eigenvalues was proved by Hollot and Bartlett in [21].

### 7.2 Computing extremal values of determinants is NP-hard

For an interval matrix  $A^{I}$ , consider the extremal values of the determinant over  $A^{I}$  given by

Since the determinant is linear in each entry, Theorem 37 implies that the extremal values are achieved at some of the  $2^{n^2}$  vertex matrices, i.e. matrices of the form

$$A_{ij} \in \{\underline{A}_{ij}, \overline{A}_{ij}\}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n.$$

We have this result:

**Theorem 40** Computing  $\underline{\det}(A^I)$ ,  $\overline{\det}(A^I)$  is NP-hard for the class of interval matrices of the form  $A^I = [A - E, A + E]$ , A rational nonnegative.

*Proof.* For an interval matrix of the form  $A^{I} = [A - E, A + E]$ , where A is a nonnegative symmetric positive definite rational matrix, singularity of  $A^{I}$  is equivalent to

$$\overline{\det}(A_0^I) \ge 0,\tag{7.3}$$

where  $A_0^I = A^I$  if det  $A \leq 0$  and  $A_0^I$  is constructed by swapping the first two rows of  $A^I$  otherwise (which changes the sign of the determinant). Here  $A_0^I = [A_0 - E, A_0 + E]$ , where  $A_0$  is a nonnegative rational matrix. Hence the NP-hard problem of checking regularity (Theorem 9) can be reduced in polynomial time to the decision problem (7.3) which shows that computing  $\overline{\det}(A^I)$  is NP-hard in this class of interval matrices. The proof for  $\underline{\det}(A^I)$  is analogous.

### 8 Nonnegative invertibility and M-matrices

So far we have shown a number of properties of interval matrices that are NP-hard to check. Finally we present two useful properties whose checking may be done in polynomial time.

### 8.1 Nonnegative invertibility

An interval matrix is said to be nonnegative invertible if  $A^{-1} \geq 0$  for each  $A \in A^{I}$ . The following result is due to Kuttler [25]; we use here the elementary proof from [36].

**Theorem 41** An interval matrix  $A^I = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  is nonnegative invertible if and only if  $\underline{A}^{-1} \geq 0$  and  $\overline{A}^{-1} \geq 0$ .

*Proof.* The "only if" part is obvious. To prove the "if" part, denote  $D_0 = \overline{A}^{-1}(\overline{A} - \underline{A})$ , then  $D_0 \geq 0$  and

$$(I - D_0)^{-1} = (\overline{A}^{-1}\underline{A})^{-1} = \underline{A}^{-1}\overline{A} = I + \underline{A}^{-1}(\overline{A} - \underline{A}) \ge 0,$$

hence  $\varrho(D_0) < 1$ . Then for each  $A \in A^I$  we have  $\varrho(\overline{A}^{-1}(\overline{A} - A)) \leq \varrho(D_0) < 1$ , and from the identity

$$A = \overline{A}(I - \overline{A}^{-1}(\overline{A} - A))$$

we obtain

$$A^{-1} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (\overline{A}^{-1} (\overline{A} - A))^j \overline{A}^{-1} \ge 0.$$

Hence, checking nonnegative invertibility of an interval matrix  $A^{I}$  with rational bounds can be performed in polynomial time [14].

#### 8.2 M-matrices

An interval matrix  $A^I$  is called an M-matrix if each  $A \in A^I$  is an M-matrix (i.e.,  $A_{ij} \leq 0$  for  $i \neq j$  and  $A^{-1} \geq 0$ ). As a consequence of Kuttler's theorem we have this characterization:

**Theorem 42** An interval matrix  $A^I = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  is an M-matrix if and only if  $\underline{A}$  and  $\overline{A}$  are M-matrices.

*Proof.* The "only if" part is obvious. Conversely, if both  $\underline{A}$  and  $\overline{A}$  are M-matrices, then  $\underline{A}^{-1} \geq 0$  and  $\overline{A}^{-1} \geq 0$ , hence each  $A \in A^I$  satisfies  $A^{-1} \geq 0$  (Theorem 41) and  $A_{ij} \leq \overline{A}_{ij} \leq 0$  for  $i \neq j$ , i.e. A is an M-matrix.

### 9 Appendix: Regularity and P-property

In section 4 we mentioned Coxson's NP-hardness result for checking P-property of real (noninterval) matrices. We add the result here as an appendix since it is of independent interest and is based on a nice equivalence of regularity of interval matrices with P-property of associated real matrices, which is also due to Coxson [9].

### 9.1 Regularity and P-property I

Consider an  $n \times n$  interval matrix  $A^I = [\underline{A}, \overline{A}]$  which we shall write in the form  $A^I = [\underline{A}, \underline{A} + 2\Delta]$ , where  $\Delta = \frac{1}{2}(\overline{A} - \underline{A})$  as before. Assuming nonsingularity of  $\underline{A}$ , for each  $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  define the vector

$$c_{ij} = 2(\Delta_{i1}\underline{A}_{1j}^{-1}, \Delta_{i2}\underline{A}_{2j}^{-1}, \dots, \Delta_{in}\underline{A}_{nj}^{-1})^{T}$$

(where we write  $\underline{A}_{kj}^{-1}$  for  $(\underline{A}^{-1})_{kj}$ ), and the matrix

$$C_{ij} = c_{ij}e^T,$$

where e is the n-vector of all ones. Hence,  $C_{ij}$  is an  $n \times n$  matrix whose all columns are identical and equal to the vector  $c_{ij}$ . Finally, define the real matrix

$$C(A^{I}) = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & I & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & I \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} C_{11} & C_{12} & \dots & C_{1n} \\ C_{21} & C_{22} & \dots & C_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ C_{n1} & C_{n2} & \dots & C_{nn} \end{pmatrix}$$

whose all blocks are  $n \times n$  matrices, hence  $C(A^I)$  is of size  $n^2 \times n^2$ . For each  $y, z \in Z$ , let us define the yz-minor of  $C(A^I)$  as the determinant of the principal submatrix of  $C(A^I)$  consisting of rows and columns with indices (i-1)n+j, where  $y_iz_j=-1$ . The equivalence (i) $\Leftrightarrow$ (ii) of the following theorem is due to Coxson [9], equivalence (i) $\Leftrightarrow$ (iii) is added here as a consequence of the Baumann theorem 11 to show that the number

of determinants to be checked for positivity can be decreased from  $2^{n^2} - 1$  to  $2^{2n-1} - 1$ . The specific feature of this result consists in the fact that regularity of an  $n \times n$  interval matrix  $A^I$  is characterized in terms of an  $n^2 \times n^2$  real matrix  $C(A^I)$ . Nevertheless, the number of operations involved still remains exponential in n.

**Theorem 43** For an interval matrix  $A^{I}$ , the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i)  $A^I$  is regular,
- (ii)  $\underline{A}$  is nonsingular and  $C(A^I)$  is a P-matrix,
- (iii)  $\underline{A}$  is nonsingular and each yz-minor of  $C(A^I)$  is positive,  $y,z \in Z$ .

Proof. (i)⇔(ii): Put

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} e^{3}T & 0^{T} & \dots & 0^{T} \\ 0^{T} & e^{T} & \dots & 0^{T} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0^{T} & 0^{T} & \dots & e^{T} \end{pmatrix},$$

where all the blocks are n-dimensional vectors, hence F is of size  $n \times n^2$ , and

$$G = \begin{pmatrix} \Delta_{11}e_1 & \Delta_{12}e_2 & \dots & \Delta_{1n}e_n \\ \Delta_{21}e_1 & \Delta_{22}e_2 & \dots & \Delta_{2n}e_n \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \Delta_{n1}e_1 & \Delta_{n2}e_2 & \dots & \Delta_{nn}e_n \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $e_j$  denotes the jth column of the  $n \times n$  unit matrix I, hence G is of size  $n^2 \times n$ . Consider any vertex matrix A of  $A^I$ , i.e. a matrix satisfying

$$A_{ij} \in \{\underline{A}_{ij}, \overline{A}_{ij}\}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n.$$

A straightforward computation shows that A can be written in the form

$$A = A + 2FDG$$
,

where D is the  $n^2 \times n^2$  diagonal matrix satisfying

$$D_{(i-1)n+j,(i-1)n+j} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } A_{ij} = \overline{A}_{ij}, \\ 0 & \text{if } A_{ij} = \underline{A}_{ij} \end{cases}$$

 $(i, j = 1, \dots, n)$ . Then we have

$$\det A = (\det \underline{A})(\det(I + 2\underline{A}^{-1}FDG)). \tag{9.1}$$

Since

$$\det(I + 2\underline{A}^{-1}FDG) = \det(I_{n^2} + 2DG\underline{A}^{-1}F)$$
(9.2)

(see Gantmacher [16];  $I_{n^2}$  is the  $n^2 \times n^2$  unit matrix), and since

$$2G\underline{A}^{-1}F = C(A^{I}) - I_{n^{2}} \tag{9.3}$$

(as it can be easily verified), from (9.1)-(9.3) we obtain

$$\det A = (\det \underline{A})(\det(I_{n^2} + D(C(A^I) - I_{n^2}))), \tag{9.4}$$

where

$$\det(I_{n^2} + D(C(A^I) - I_{n^2})) \tag{9.5}$$

is obviously the determinant of the principal submatrix formed from rows and columns of  $C(A^I)$  with indices (i-1)n+j for which  $A_{ij}=\overline{A}_{ij}$ .

Now, if  $A^I$  is regular, then each principal minor of  $C(A^I)$  can be written in the form (9.5) for an appropriately chosen vertex matrix A. Since  $(\det A)(\det \underline{A}) > 0$  due to regularity, (9.4) implies that (9.5) is positive. Conversely, if each principal minor of  $C(A^I)$  is positive, then  $(\det A)(\det \underline{A}) > 0$  for each vertex matrix A of  $A^I$  due to (9.4), which implies that  $A^I$  is regular (Theorem 11). Hence (i) and (ii) are equivalent.

To prove (i) $\Leftrightarrow$ (iii), notice that each matrix  $A_{yz} \in A^I, y, z \in Z$  defined by (2.6) satisfies

$$(A_{yz})_{ij} = \underline{A}_{ij} + (1 - y_i z_j) \Delta_{ij}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n,$$

hence it can be written as

$$A_{uz} = A + FD_{uz}G,$$

where F and G are as above and  $D_{yz}$  is the  $n^2 \times n^2$  diagonal matrix satisfying

$$(D_{yz})_{(i-1)n+j,(i-1)n+j} = 1 - y_i z_j, \quad i,j = 1,\ldots,n.$$

Then we obtain as before that

$$\det A_{yz} = (\det \underline{A})(\det(I_{n^2} + \frac{1}{2}D_{yz}(C(A^I) - I_{n^2}))),$$

where

$$\det(I_{n^2} + \frac{1}{2}D_{yz}(C(A^I) - I_{n^2}))$$

is exactly the yz-minor of  $C(A^I)$  defined earlier in this section. Hence an obvious reasoning based on Baumann's theorem 11 leads to the conclusion that  $A^I$  is regular if and only if all the yz-minors of  $C(A^I)$  are positive,  $y,z \in Z$ .

### 9.2 Checking P-property is NP-hard for real matrices

Coxson's result [9] is obtained as an immediate consequence of the previous characterization.

**Theorem 44** Checking P-property of real matrices is NP-hard.

*Proof.* According to the equivalence (i) $\Leftrightarrow$ (ii) of Theorem 43, the problem of checking regularity of an interval matrix  $A^I$  with rational bounds can be reduced in polynomial time to the problem of checking P-property of a rational matrix  $C(A^I)$ . Since the former problem is NP-hard (Theorem 9), the same is true for the latter one as well.

### 9.3 Regularity and P-property II

It should be noted that there also exists another relationship between regularity and the P-property, which proved to be a very useful tool for deriving some nontrivial properties of inverse interval matrices and of systems of linear interval equations. The following theorem was published in a report form [34] in 1984 and in a journal form [37] in 1989.

**Theorem 45** If  $A^I$  is regular, then  $A_1^{-1}A_2$  is a P-matrix for each  $A_1, A_2 \in A^I$ .

*Proof.* Assume to the contrary that  $A_1^{-1}A_2$  is not a P-matrix for some  $A_1, A_2 \in A^I = [A_c - \Delta, A_c + \Delta]$ . Then according to the Fiedler-Pták theorem [15] (quoted at the beginning of section 4) there exists an  $x \neq 0$  such that  $x_i(A_1^{-1}A_2x)_i \leq 0$  for each i. Put  $x' = A_1^{-1}A_2x$ , then

$$x_i x_i' \le 0 \quad (i = 1, \dots, n) \tag{9.6}$$

and

$$x \neq x' \tag{9.7}$$

holds. In fact, since  $x \neq 0$ , there exists a j with  $x_j \neq 0$ ; then  $x_j^2 > 0$  whereas (9.6) implies  $x_j x_j' \leq 0$ , hence  $x_j \neq x_j'$ . Now we have

$$|A_c(x'-x)| = |(A_c - A_1)x' + (A_2 - A_c)x| \le \Delta |x'| + \Delta |x| = \Delta |x' - x| \tag{9.8}$$

since |x'| + |x| = |x' - x| due to (9.6). Hence Proposition 10 in the light of (9.8) and (9.7) implies that  $A^I$  is singular, which is a contradiction.

For applications of this result, see [37].

# **Bibliography**

- [1] B. R. Barmish and M. Fu and S. Saleh. Stability of a polytope of matrices: Counterexamples. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 33:569–572, 1988.
- [2] B. R. Barmish and C. V. Hollot. Counter-example to a recent result on the stability of interval matrices by S. Białas. *International Journal of Control*, 39:1103–1104, 1984.
- [3] M. Baumann. A regularity criterion for interval matrices. In J. Garloff et al., editor, Collection of Scientific Papers Honouring Prof. Dr. K. Nickel on Occasion of his 60th Birthday, Part I, pages 45–50, Freiburg, 1984. Freiburg University.
- [4] H. Beeck. Zur Problematik der Hüllenbestimmung von Intervallgleichungssystemen. In K. Nickel, editor, *Interval Mathematics*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 29, pages 150–159, Berlin, 1975. Springer-Verlag.
- [5] A. Berman and R. J. Plemmons. Nonnegative Matrices in the Mathematical Sciences. SIAM, Philadelphia, 1994.
- [6] S. Białas. A necessary and sufficient condition for the stability of interval matrices. *International Journal of Control*, 37:717–722, 1983.
- [7] S. Białas and J. Garloff. Intervals of P-matrices and related matrices. Linear Algebra and Its Applications, 58:33-41, 1984.
- [8] R. D. Braatz and P. M. Young and J. C. Doyle and M. Morari. Computational complexity of mu calculation. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 39:1000– 1002, 1994.
- [9] G. E. Coxson. The P-matrix problem is co-NP-complete. Mathematical Programming, 64:173-178, 1994.
- [10] G. E. Coxson and C. L. DeMarco. Computing the real structured singular value is NP-hard. Report ECE-92-4, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Wisconsin, Madison, 1992.
- [11] J. J. D. Delgado-Romero and J. A. Rojas-Estrada and J. M. Collado. A simple test to determine the stability of an interval matrix. In *Proceedings of the American* Control Conference 1994, Baltimore, ML, pages 642-643, 1994.

- [12] J. W. Demmel. The componentwise distance to the nearest singular matrix. SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications, 13:10-19, 1992.
- [13] J. C. Doyle. Analysis of feedback systems with structured uncertainties. *IEE Proceedings*, Part D, 129:242–250, 1982.
- [14] J. Edmonds. Systems of distinct representatives and linear algebra. Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards (B), 71:241-245, 1967.
- [15] M. Fiedler and V. Pták. On matrices with non-positive off-diagonal elements and positive principal minors. *Czechoslovak Mathematical Journal*, 12:382-400, 1962.
- [16] F. R. Gantmacher. The Theory of Matrices, vol. I. Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, 1959.
- [17] M. R. Garey and D. S. Johnson and L. Stockmeyer. Some simplified NP-complete graph problems. *Theoretical Computer Science*, 1:237-267, 1976.
- [18] G. H. Golub and C. F. van Loan. *Matrix Computations*. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, 1983.
- [19] D. Hertz. The extreme eigenvalues and stability of real symmetric interval matrices. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 37:532–535, 1992.
- [20] N. J. Higham. Accuracy and Stability of Numerical Algorithms. SIAM, Philadelphia, 1996.
- [21] C. V. Hollot and A. C. Bartlett. On the eigenvalues of interval matrices. Technical Report CCS-87-104, University of Massachusetts, Amherst, 1987.
- [22] W. Kahan. Numerical linear algebra. Canadian Mathematical Bulletin, 9:757–801, 1966.
- [23] W. C. Karl and J. P. Greschak and G. C. Verghese. Comments on "A necessary and sufficient condition for the stability of interval matrices". *International Journal of Control*, 39:849–851, 1984.
- [24] V. Kreinovich, A. Lakeyev, J. Rohn and P. Kahl. Computational Complexity of Data Processing and Interval Computations. To be published by Kluwer, 1997.
- [25] J. Kuttler. A fourth-order finite-difference approximation for the fixed membrane eigenproblem. *Mathematics of Computation*, 25:237–256, 1971.
- [26] M. Mansour. Robust stability of interval matrices. Proceedings of the 28th Conference on Decision and Control, Tampa, FL, pages 46-51, 1989.
- [27] K. G. Murty. Linear and Combinatorial Programming. Wiley, New York, 1976.
- [28] A. Nemirovskii. Several NP-hard problems arising in robust stability analysis. Mathematics of Control, Signals, and Systems, 6:99–105, 1993.

- [29] A. Neumaier. Letter to J. Rohn, March 1986.
- [30] A. Neumaier. *Interval Methods for Systems of Equations*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [31] W. Oettli and W. Prager. Compatibility of approximate solution of linear equations with given error bounds for coefficients and right-hand sides. *Numerische Mathematik*, 6:405–409, 1964.
- [32] S. Poljak and J. Rohn. Radius of nonsingularity. Research Report, KAM Series 88–117, Charles University, Prague, December 1988.
- [33] S. Poljak and J. Rohn. Checking robust nonsingularity is NP-hard. *Mathematics of Control, Signals, and Systems*, 6:1–9, 1993.
- [34] J. Rohn. Proofs to "Solving interval linear systems". Freiburger Intervall-Berichte 84/7, Freiburg University, Freiburg, 1984.
- [35] J. Rohn. Miscellaneous results on linear interval systems. Freiburger Intervall—Berichte 85/9, Freiburg University, Freiburg, 1985.
- [36] J. Rohn. Inverse-positive interval matrices. Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik, 67:T492-T493, 1987.
- [37] J. Rohn. Systems of linear interval equations. Linear Algebra and Its Applications, 126:39–78, 1989.
- [38] J. Rohn. Interval matrices: Singularity and real eigenvalues. SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications, 14:82–91, 1993.
- [39] J. Rohn. Positive definiteness and stability of interval matrices. SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications, 15:175–184, 1994.
- [40] J. Rohn. Checking positive definiteness or stability of symmetric interval matrices is NP-hard. Commentationes Mathematicae Universitatis Carolinae, 35:795-797, 1994.
- [41] J. Rohn. An algorithm for checking stability of symmetric interval matrices. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 41:133–136, 1996.
- [42] J. Rohn. Unpublished results.
- [43] J. Rohn and G. Rex. Interval P-matrices. To appear in SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications, 1996.
- [44] S. M. Rump. Verification methods for dense and sparse systems of equations. In J. Herzberger, editor, *Topics in Validated Computations*, pages 63–135, Amsterdam, 1994. North-Holland.
- [45] S. M. Rump. Almost sharp bounds for the componentwise distance to the nearest singular matrix. To appear in *Linear and Multilinear Algebra*.

- [46] S. M. Rump. Bounds for the componentwise distance to the nearest singular matrix. To appear in SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications.
- [47] Z. C. Shi and W. B. Gao. A necessary and sufficient condition for the positive–definiteness of interval symmetric matrices. *International Journal of Control*, 43:325–328, 1986.
- [48] C. B. Soh. Necessary and sufficient conditions for stability of symmetric interval matrices. *International Journal of Control*, 51:243–248, 1990.
- [49] J. Stoer and R. Bulirsch. *Introduction to Numerical Analysis*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1980.
- [50] K. Wang and A. Michel. On sufficient conditions for the stability of interval matrices. Systems and Control Letters, 20:345–351, 1993.
- [51] J. H. Wilkinson. The Algebraic Eigenvalue Problem. Oxford University Press, London, 1965.